IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

:

:

:

:

:

:

KENNETH MICHAEL GARDNER,
Appellant,
vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

Case No. 64,541

FILED S'D J. WHITE SEP 24 1984

CLERK SUPREME COURT Bv. Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JERRY HILL PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Hall of Justice Building 455 N. Broadway Avenue Bartow, Florida 33830 (813)533-1184 or 533-0931

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PAGE NO.

1

31

34

43

55

57

60

62

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

ARGUMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 23, 1983, Joseph Holda's body was found in the paint department of Polk's Hardware Store in Clearwater, where he had worked for about 35 years. (R1698,1702,1707) Holda was 72 years old. (R38) He had been stabbed and cut a number of times, primarily in the chest area, but also in the abdomen and neck. (R2563,2566-2567) He had defensive wounds on both hands. (R2567) He died from stab wounds to the chest, which injured the heart and lungs. (R2576-2577) The cutting wounds to Holda's neck and abdomen were inflicted after his death. (R2569-2570)

A back pocket of Holda's trousers was pulled out, and there was no wallet to be found. (R2284)

Until April 22, 1983 the police did not have any solid leads as to who committed the crimes at the hardware store. On that day they came into contact with Larry Hadley. (R949,2305-2306) Pursuant to their discussions with Hadley the police placed an electronic listening device on Hadley and accompanied him to look for the Appellant, Kenneth Michael Gardner. (R2830-2832) They found Gardner at Angel's Bar. (R2832) Following his instructions from the police Hadley persuaded Gardner to come outside the bar, where he engaged Gardner in an incriminating conversation concerning the murder at Polk's Hardware, which conversation was tape-recorded by the police. (R2830-2839,2932-2935) Gardner was thereafter arrested inside the bar, frisked, and transported to the police

-1-

station. (R2307-2310,2321-2322) At no time did he resist or attempt to flee. (R2361,2416)

On May 24, 1983 a Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment charging Ken Gardner with murder in the first degree and robbery. (R16-17) The first count alleged that he committed the premeditated murder of Joseph Holda by stabbing him with a knife. (R16) Count two alleged that he robbed Holda of his wallet and its contents and carried a deadly weapon (a knife) in the course of committing the robbery. (R16)

The night he was arrested Ken Gardner made statements to the police which were the subject of a pretrial motion to suppress (R226) that was heard on October 4, 1983 by the Honorable Gerard O'Brien. $\frac{1}{}$ (R948-1035) Detective Richard McManus of the Clearwater Police Department was the sole witness to testify at the suppression hearing. (R948-1022) He testified that the police did not have a warrant to arrest Ken Gardner. (R985) Gardner was not told at the arrest scene why he was being arrested. (R952) He was taken to the Clearwater Police Department rather than being booked into the Pinellas County Jail so that the police could question him and complete a booking advisory sheet. (R984-986) McManus told Gardner he was under arrest for homicide when Gardner was taken to the interview room at the police station. (R954,956)

 $\frac{1}{1}$ In at least one place in the record (R871) on appeal the judge is incorrectly referred to as <u>Gerald</u> O'Brien.

-2-

At approximately 10:40 p.m., McManus read Gardner his <u>Miranda</u> rights from a card issued by the state attorney's office. (R956,957-958) McManus testified that no promises were made to Gardner prior to questioning, nor did anyone threaten or coerce him. (R958) McManus opined that Gardner had been drinking, but was not drunk at the time of the interview. (R959-960) However, his eyes were bloodshot, a condition which could have been caused by drinking alcohol. (R1020)

e 1 e 1

Gardner initially told McManus that he, Larry Hadley, Tony Capers, and Debra Tyler had gone into Polk's Hardware Store where Capers grabbed the victim and forced him to the ground, and Hadley stabbed him. (R960) He then changed his story and told the police that Hadley waited in the car when the other three went into the store, and it was Capers who stabbed the old man. (R961) Gardner said Capers had been in the store a few days before, and it was his idea to rob the man. (R961-962)

Although the police more often tape-recorded statements, Gardner then gave a statement that was typed at his request. (R961-963) In the typed statement Gardner said Tony Capers grabbed the victim around the neck and Larry Hadley stabbed him while Debra Tyler held the victim's feet and shouted, "Kill him, kill him." (R25) Hadley had said they were not going to leave any witnesses. (R25)

During the interview Gardner more than once indicated he wanted medical attention because he was "going into the

-3-

D.T.'s." (R1003-1004) He did not receive medical attention, nor was he given anything to eat or drink. (R1011-1012)

• •

On cross-examination defense counsel asked McManus whether anything came up during the interview as to Kenneth Gardner having been threatened. (R1006) The State objected on relevancy grounds. (R1006-1007) Counsel for Gardner pointed out that in his typed statement Gardner said he had been threatened by Larry Hadley. (R1009) The court sustained the State's objection, expressing his view that the threats by Hadley had nothing to do with the voluntariness of Gardner's confession to the police. (R1010-1011)

After hearing the testimony of Detective McManus and argument of counsel, the court denied Gardner's motion to suppress. (R310,1031-1034)

Gardner filed various other pretrial motions, including a Motion for Sequestered Voir Dire, Proper Death Qualifying Question, and Specific Jury Instructions (R322-323), a Motion for Sanctions or in the Alternative Motion in Limine (R247-248), and separate motions for sanctions and in limine (R244-246,241-243), all of which were heard by Judge O'Brien on October 4, 1983. (R872-948) The Motion for Sanctions or in the Alternative Motion in Limine dealt with the fact that defense counsel had attempted to depose Larry Hadley on approximately seven occasions and each time Hadley failed and refused to appear. The remedy Gardner sought in the motion was the exclusion of any testimony or evidence, direct or indirect, relating to Larry Hadley.

-4-

As of September 26, 1983, the final time counsel for Gardner attempted to depose him, Hadley's mental condition had deteriorated so that he was not competent to testify. (R876-877) Counsel argued that Hadley had been in the custody of the State for many months in the Pinellas County Jail and so the prosecutor should have been aware of his mental condition, especially in view of the fact that in 1977 Hadley had been found not guilty by reason of insanity on an arson charge in Pinellas County Circuit Court. (R881-883)

The prosecutor acknowledged that Hadley had failed to appear the first three times his deposition was set. (R879) The first two times he was legitimately subpoenaed. (R881) The third time he had moved, and the State had not given defense counsel the correct address. (R881) The fourth through the seventh time the deposition was attempted,"it was merely an accommodation of all parties" that caused the deposition not to be taken. $(R879)^{2/}$

The court in effect denied the motion, but took it under advisement to the extent that he might reconsider if Hadley did "show up as a witness for the State." (R885-886)

The Motion in Limine and Motion for Sanctions both dealt with a discovery violation by the State, to-wit: failure

-5-

 $[\]frac{2}{}$ One of the unsuccessful attempts by defense counsel to depose Larry Hadley occurred on September 21, 1983. This attempt precipitated a hearing before Judge Susan F. Schaeffer. Because no transcript of this hearing was available for inclusion in the record on appeal, this Court relinquished partial jurisdiction to the circuit court for 30 days for the purpose of reconstructing the record as to what occurred at the September 21 hearing. (R3162-3163) A transcript of the hearing at which the record was reconstructed appears at pages 3165-3181 of the record that is now before the Court.

to notify defense counsel of the names of witnesses Tony Capers and Debra Tyler until late afternoon on Friday, September 30, 1983 for the trial that was to begin on Tuesday, October 4. (R241-246,886-891) The motions sought to exclude from Gardner's trial any testimony from either Capers or Tyler. Defense counsel noted at the hearing on these motions that he had not been advised by the State until that very morning that Tony Capers was actually going to be called as a witness against Ken Gardner at trial. (R889) Counsel said he had deposed Capers that morning (October 4) at the direction of the court, and needed time to prepare to cross-examine Capers and to develop leads that were revealed during the deposition. (R899-906,921-946) He also argued that the entire defense strategy would be altered if Capers were to testify against Gardner. (R899-906, 921-946) The court denied the motions. (R937) He continued the trial for one week, until October 11, at the suggestion of the prosecutor. (R944-948)

On October 11 the court and counsel discussed the number of peremptory challenges each side would have. (R1101-1108) Gardner argued that he should have 16 or 20, as he was charged in a two-count indictment with first-degree murder and robbery. (R1101-1102) The court ruled that each side would have 10 challenges, but that he would probably allow six additional challenges per side if they were warranted. (R1106-1108)

Also on October 11 the court heard a Motion to Suppress Tangible Evidence filed by Gardner. (R277-280,1108-1187) Among other things, the motion sought suppression of the testi-

-6-

mony of Tony Capers, suppression of statements made by Gardner while in custody, suppression of physical evidence (including Gardner's tennis shoes) obtained as a result of in-custody statements of Gardner, and suppression of the wire-intercepted communication of April 22, 1983 between Gardner and Larry Hadley. (R277)

Larry Hadley's attorney, Douglas Prior, was called as a witness at the suppression hearing. (R1108-1120) Prior testified that he had seen Hadley's mental condition deteriorate to the point that he was incompetent to stand trial. (R1111-1118)

Defense counsel argued for suppression of the evidence because he had not been permitted to depose Larry Hadley through the State's fault, and all evidence against Gardner flowed from the "body bug" Hadley wore when he spoke with Gardner outside Angel's Bar. (R1125-1145) He also argued that the authorities had failed to comply with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111 when they arrested Gardner. The court denied the motion. (R1172)

After pretrial hearings were completed on October 11, defense counsel stated he was not ready for trial for several reasons (R1213-1223): (1) He had not been able to depose Larry Hadley. (2) Tony Capers and Debra Tyler had been listed by the State as witnesses at the last minute. (3) He did not receive the transcript of Tony Capers' deposition until October 10, the day before trial was to begin, and had not had an adequate opportunity to review it in order to prepare to cross-

-7-

examine Capers. (4) Capers' deposition produced the names of five witnesses, only one of which defense counsel had been able to depose. (5) The State had waited until October 10 to provide defense counsel with the name of Evelyn Seltzer, a witness to Gardner's sobriety on the night of his arrest. (6) The State intended to use a scale diagram of the hardware store which defense counsel had not seen.

Court recessed until the next day, October 12. (R1226)

When court resumed further argument was held on the admissibility of evidence derived from the body bug worn by Larry Hadley. (R1228-1242) The court preliminarily denied Gardner's motion to suppress this evidence, without prejudice to renew it later. (R1241-1242)

The process of jury selection then began.

During questioning of prospective juror Truong, the prosecutor asked whether she had any problems listening to the testimony of a co-defendant, to which she answered, "No."

(R1391) He then asked:

Okay, there are a lot of people that just say I can't believe the testimony of a coperpetrator or somebody else involved in the crime under any circumstances. That is why I asked this question. The bottom line here today is can you sit there and listen to this person and evaluate this testimony under the same rules of law as every other witness that takes the stand?

(R1391-1392) Gardner objected to this question and moved for a mistrial $\frac{3}{}$ on grounds it was an incorrect statement of the

^{3/} This was one of 15 motions for mistrial Gardner made (R1295-1296,1392-1395,1482-1486,1687-1692,1770-1776,1890-1891,1908-1911, 1984-2001,2089-2091,2155-2158,2290-2294,2363-2365,2602-2608, 2786-2787,2839-2841).

law. (R1392-1395) The court refused to grant a mistrial and denied Gardner's request that he instruct the jury regarding testimony of accomplices. (R1394-1395) The court did, however, ask the prosecutor to rephrase his question. (R1395) Counsel for the State then asked (R1395):

> Miss Truong, that question was phrased very awkwardly and probably incorrectly. What I'm asking you is the Judge will give you the law at the end of the trial which, you know by now, there is law that applies to a co-perpetrator. Can you follow that law?

Truong responded in the affirmative. (R1395)

The State later exercised one of its peremptory challenges to excuse Truong from the jury. (R1571)

Gardner challenged three prospective jurors for cause: Lombardo, Bedard, and Eversole. Each challenge was denied, and counsel for Gardner exercised peremptory challenges to excuse these jurors. (R1459-1461,1482-1486,1564-1565) The challenge to Lombardo was Gardner's tenth peremptory. (R1565) He requested additional peremptories, pursuant to the court's pretrial ruling, as he wished to challege jurors Briles and Furgerson. (R1565-1582) The court denied additional peremptories, but later said he would consider the matter overnight. (R1581-1582, 1586) The next morning the court expressed satisfaction with the jury and adhered to his decision to refuse to allow additional peremptory challenges. (R1594)

Trial testimony began on October 13 with Joseph Holda's widow, Carrie Holda. (R1697) Her husband was fine when she telephoned the hardware store at about 11:00 a.m. on

-9-

March 23. (R1699) When she called later, at about 3:30 p.m., someone else answered the phone. (R1699)

Lester Stewart testified that he was manager of an apartment complex in March of 1983. (R1710) He was in the habit of going into Polk's Hardware Store three to five times a day. (R1711) On March 23 he went there about five times. (R1711-1712) He noticed nothing unusual when he visited the store at 9:00 a.m. and 11:30 a.m. (R1712) At 2:30 in the afternoon when he went into the store, Stewart did not see the proprietor. (R1713) He went back across the street to the apartment complex, but soon returned to the hardware store. (R1713) He still did not see Holda. (R1713) Stewart went back across the street, but returned to the store again because he was concerned about Holda. (R1713) He looked around and saw Holda lying in the paint department. (R1713) Stewart walked out the door and went back to work. (R1715) He returned to the store later, when an ambulance arrived. (R1715) Stewart spoke with the police and told them he had been in the store, but did not mention seeing the body because he was too scared. (R1715) Also, Stewart was on probation for checks he had written seven years ago, and he did not want any trouble. (R1716) Stewart did finally admit to the police that he had seen Holda's body, the third time he talked to them. (R1715,1723)

Stewart usually carried a pocket knife, which he gave to the police when they asked for it. (R1719)

In mid-afternoon on the day Holda died, a black man whom Stewart had never seen before approached him to inquire

-10-

if there was an apartment for rent. (R1716) During his fifth visit to the police station Stewart was shown about six photographs from which he selected one as depicting the black man he saw on March 23. (R1732-1734)

During the testimony of Richard Vellucci, a paramedic for the City of Clearwater, Gardner made another motion for mistrial. (R1770-1776) The motion was based on the court commenting on the evidence, and was denied. (R1770-1776)

Kevin Noppinger testified as an expert witness in the field of forensic serology. (R1799-1886) He examined certain items for the presence of blood. (R1812) His visual inspection and chemical test failed to reveal the presence of blood on State Exhibit Number Five, which was the knife the police seized from Lester Stewart. (R1816-1819)

Noppinger also examined scrapings taken from a display counter and shelf in Polk's Hardware Store, and from the floor beside Holda's body and underneath his body. (R1821-1823) Gardner objected to any testimony concerning these scrapings, as the State had not advised him as part of discovery that Noppinger would be providing such testimony. (R1823-1854) A recess was taken and defense counsel took a quick deposition of the witness and received copies of various documents from his file. (R1850) His continuing objection to Noppinger's testimony was overruled. (R1853-1854)

Noppinger testified that the blood scrapings were consistent with the sample of blood he had from Joseph Holda, which was Type A blood. (R1857-1866)

-11-

Noppinger also examined a pair of shoes, State Exhibit Number Seven, for the presence of blood. (R1869) He found Type A blood on the right shoe and no blood on the left shoe. (R1870-1874)

Detective Ronald Luchan of the Clearwater Police Department identified State Exhibit Number Seven as a pair of white tennis shoes he took from Gardner on April 22, 1983. (R1929-1930)

James Ford, an identification technician with the Clearwater Police Department, testified as an expert in fingerprint identification. (R2008,2016) Ford examined a number of latent fingerprints lifted from Polk's Hardware Store. (R2023, 2027,2030-2031) He did not find the fingerprints of Gardner, Debra Tyler, Tony Capers, or Larry Hadley in the store. (R2019) He was able to identify only three fingerprints as belonging to particular individuals: two prints on the front door belonged to Lester Stewart, and the third belonged to Richard Wilkie, who found Holda's body and called an ambulance. (R1702-1703,2026,2029)

When trial resumed on October 14 Gardner renewed his objections to Tony Capers' testimony. (R2053-2055)

Gardner asked the court to read Florida Standard Jury Instruction 2.04(b), on testimony of an accomplice, before Capers testified, but he refused. (R2074-2075)

Capers testified that he had entered a guilty plea to charges of first-degree murder and robbery. (R2076-2077) He had been promised that the death penalty would be waived in return for his in-court testimony, but had not been made any other promises. (R2077)

-12-

Capers had known Gardner since February. (R2078) They had worked together at the Lemon Tree Restaurant. (R2077)

Gardner, Capers, and Debra Tyler lived with Larry Hadley at Hadley's house in Clearwater from March 22 until April 1. (R2079-2080)

Capers had gone to Polk's Hardware Store several weeks before the episode involving Holda to have a key made. (R2080-2081)

On the morning of March 23, 1983 Capers bought two six-packs of beer and some extra potent marijuana called sensama. (R2081-2082,2158,2165-2166) He brought the beer and marijuana back to Hadley's house where he rolled 13 "joints". (R2160) Capers shared the beer and marijuana with the others. (R2082) Gardner smoked one or two marijuana cigarettes and drank three and one-half beers. (R2083) Capers had never before seen Gardner smoke a marijuana cigarette. (R2170)

The four people then drove to Tarpon Springs in a car Larry Hadley borrowed from his neighbor. (R2083) They stayed in Tarpon Springs for a few hours, where they bought two or three more quarts of beer, which they shared. (R2088) They smoked the rest of the sensama marijuana. (R2201) None of them ate any food. (R2164-2165)

Capers acknowledged that he had a "pretty good buzz on" that day, and that all four of them were "flying pretty high." (R2200-2201)

On the way back to Clearwater, Gardner mentioned Polk's Hardware Store and asked Capers whether he thought

-13-

there was any money there, to which Capers responded in the affirmative. (R2091-2092) Gardner suggested that they "rip off" the store, and all agreed to participate. (R2094) Gardner said if he had to he would "waste the guy" [in the store]. (R2094) At that point Gardner asked Debra Tyler for a knife. (R2095) She had one which she kept in a small purse, and she handed it to Gardner, who was driving. (R2095)

Capers said he would not go into the store if Gardner intended to kill the man, and suggested it would be better to get the money, knock the old man out, and leave the store. (R2094-2095) Gardner agreed to go along with this plan. (R2095)

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