IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH MICHAEL GARDNER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 64,541

1)94

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I (As stated by Appellant)

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN REFUSING TO TAKE CORRECTIVE MEASURES AFTER THE ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY ASKED AN IMPROPER VOIR DIRE QUESTION WHICH MISSTATED THE LAW.

The jurors to whom the voire dire questions were directed never served on the petit jury selected. Appellant argues the entire venire was "poisoned" by the question. Such is not so. Defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's question and moved for a mistiral. (R 1392) The prosecutor acknowledged that his question was both awkward and, at worst, poorly worded. (R 1393) The trial court correctly declined to comply with defense counsel's urging that a standard jury instruction be read at the particular preliminary part of the trial. (R 1395) The prosecutor then delivered his "rephrased" question (the functional equivalent of a currative instruction) which comported with the court's suggestion:

MR. YOUNG: Miss Truong, that question was phrased very awkwardly and probably incorrectly. What I'm asking you is the Judge will give you the law at the end of the trial which, you know by now, there is law that applies to a coperpetrator. Can you follow that law?

JUROR TRUONG: Yes.

(R 1395, lines 17 - 23)

At the conclusion of the trial, the lower court gave the following instruction:

As for accomplices, you should use great caution in relying on the testimony of a witness who claims to have helped the Defendant commit a crime. This is particularly true when there is no other evidence tending to agree with what the witness says about the Defendant.

However, if the testmony of such a witness

convinces you beyond a reasonable doubt of the Defendant's guilt, or the other evidence in the case does so, then you should find the Defendant guilty.

(R 2747, line 20 - R 2748, line 5)

The jury instruction given is in harmony with Florida Standard Jury Instructions (Crim.) 2.04(b). Appellant relies on Smith v.

State, 253 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1 DCA 1978) and Leibold v. State, 386

So.2d 17 (Fla. 3 DCA 1980) for reversal. In Smith, the damage as to questioning of prospective jurors is dicta as the case was decided on other grounds. Significantly, the Smith panel did reflect on the proper question: "... whether ... such juror would follow the instructions of the court." This is precisely the rephrased question of the prosecutor. In Leibold, after a review of the jury voire dire examination, no prejudice was found to justify reversal.

In <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982), this court noted that a motion for mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge; and, the motion is to be granted when the error is so prejudiced and fundamental that the expenditure of further time and expense would be wasteful if not futile. See, <u>Johnsen v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1969) and <u>Salvatore v. State of</u>
<u>Florida</u>, 366 So.2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1978) <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 444 U.S. 885. There is no error.

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT DEFENSE CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE TO PROSPECTIVE JUR-ORS, FORCING GARDNER TO EXERCISE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES TO EXCUSE THESE JURORS, AND IN REFUSING TO ALLOW GARDNER TO EXERCISE MORE THAN TEN PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AFTER TELLING COUNSEL HE COULD PROBABLY ALLOW EACH SIDE A TOTAL OF SIXTEEN PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

The contention on peremptory challenges is controlled by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.350. Appellant, in essence, urges that he was under the impression he would have sixteen (16) peremptory challenges. The trial court did not represent this. The court did represent that after ten (10) challenges were exhausted, defense counsel could approach the Bench requesting the court to use its discretion allowing additional challenges. (R 1107 - 1108) This record does not reflect that the trial court led defense counsel to believe he would have 16 perempotry challenges, carte' blanche.

In <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1981), the prosecution and defense counsel <u>stipulated</u> to sixty-six (66) peremptory challenges. This stipulation was accepted by the court. Even though the stipulation <u>exceeded</u> the number legally required by the rule, error was found on limiting Thomas' peremptory challenges to sixteen; however, this was not the sole basis of reversal. Significantly, there existed a combination of two errors whos cummulative affect warranted reversal.

In <u>Jacobs v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1981), a case closer on point, this Court ruled:

[8, 9] Jacobs requested forty peremptory challenges in the jury selection process based on the fact that she was chrged with four felonies

punishable by deth or life imprisonment. The trial judge, following Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.350, denied the request, ruling that the defendant had only ten challenges as a matter of right. Consistent with Johnson v. State, 222 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1969), the judge exercised his discretion by allowing two additional challenges. No error or abuse of discretion is reflected here. Additionally, we find no error in the joinder of the four charges in one indictment, particularly because all four counts arose from one continuous sequence of events See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.150.

(text of 396 So.2d at 717)

Here, Appellant fails to demonstrate either a stipulation or an abuse of discretion by the lower court.

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT ADEQUATE INQUIRIES CONCERNING SEVERAL DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS COMMITTED BY THE SATE AND IN NOT PROVIDING APPROPRIATE RELIEF TO GARDNER FOR THESE VIOLATIONS.

Appellant makes a four (4) pronged attack focusing on purported discovery violations. The "State" will address each sub-issue seriatim:

A. Deposition of Larry Hadley

After several futile attempts to depose Larry Hadley (witness to homicide), Appellant filed a Motion in Limine; a Motion for Sanctions; and an alternative Motion for Sanctions or in Limine detailing his efforts to depose Mr. Hadley. (R 241 - 248). A hearing was held October 4, 1983. (R 871 - 1045). The lower court ore tenus, denied the motions. (R 886) The court ruled that the motions were taken under advisement in case Mr. Hadley testified. (R 886) Mr. Hadley did not testify. The motion was denied on its face. (R 247) The court ruled on October 4, 1984, and rendered orders denying relief on October 10, 1983. (R 307 - 309) From the transcript, there is no dispute that Mr. Hadley was not mentally competent to be de-(R 880; 882; 884) As such, there is no Richardson violation. A violation of a rule of procedure does not call for reversal of a conviction unless the record discloses that non-compliance with the rule resulted in prejudice or harm to the defendant. Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971). The prosecution has the burden of showing to the trial court there was no prejudice to the defendant. Cumbie v. State, 345 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1977). In fact, it

has been held that the burden remains on the State to prove to the appellate court that the failure to hold a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry was not prejudicial. <u>Cuciak v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 916, 918 (Fla. 1982). With Justice Alderman concurring in result only with opinion urging that on appeal it is the defendant's burden to prove error.

Here, as Mr. Hadley did not testify (because of mental incompetency), the <u>Richardson</u> hearing was more than adequate. Additionally, in <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 436 So.2d 985 (Fla. 3 DCA 1983), the court reviewed a circuit court order excluding a witness because the prosecution failed to produce the witness for depostion. The district court issued its gracious writ and quashed the circuit court order holding:

[2] It is not the responsibility of the state to produce a witness subpoenaed by a defendant for discovery purposes; to order the state to do so, or to dismiss a criminal case for faiure of the state to do so, constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of law. State v. Adderly, 411 So.2d 981 (Fla. 3 DCA 1982); Knight v. State 373 So.2d 5 (Fla. 4 DCA 1979), cert. denied, 385 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1980); State ex rel. Gerstein v. Durant, 348 So.2d 405 (Fla. 3 DCA 1977); State v. Roig, 305 So.2d 836 (Fla. 3 DCA 1974).

(text of 436 So.2d 985)

As Mr. Hadley was not a witness, the prosecution carried its burden of showing no prejudice to the defendant. In no way whatsoever did the prosecution impale the defense investigation of this case. As to whether the <u>Richardson</u> hearing was adequate, the record appears to reflect all of the available information on the subject which could have been developed. The failure to make formal findings concerning each of the pertinent Richardson considerations does not

constitute reversible error. Ansley v. State, 302 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1 DCA 1974). In explaining Richardson, Judge Grimes in Baker v. State, 438 So.2d 905, 906 (Fla. 2 DCA 1983) pet. for review den. 447 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984) observes that once there has been an adequate inquiry into all the surrounding circumstances, the trial court has discretion to determine whether the state's failure to list a witness constitutes harm or prejudice to the default. As Mr. Hadley did not testify, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion without prejudice for reconsideration if the witness were to testify.

B. Names of Tony Capers and Debra Tyler as State Witnesses
On May 3, 1983, the Public Defender set a hearing on Motion to
Determine Conflict. There, the names of Anthony Capers; Kenneth
Gardner; and, Debra Tyler were styled as defendants. (R 4) On May
9, 1984, defense counsel was appointed because of the conflict. (R
5) Thus, the record shows defense counsel had knowledge of Tony
Capers and Debra Tyler.

On October 4, 1984, the prosecution informed defense counsel that Tony Capers had negotiated a plea bargain and he and Debra Tyler would be testifying against Appellant. (R 889; 890) The prosecution represented that it was not changing theories of prosecution; but, merely witnesses. (R 896) Also, the prosecution pointed to the "cover sheet" of Answer to Denial for Discovery (R 52) had the names of Capers and Tyler imprinted as witnesses. (R 897) In fact, the discovery "cover sheet" listed these names. (R 265) Prior to the hearing (at the court's direction), defense counsel deposed Mr. Capers. (R 904, 905; 919; 940) Defense counsel

represented that he learned of that on the day of the homicide, his client, Ms. Tyler and Mr. Capers drank beer and imbibed marijuana. (R 940)

Appellant argues that the lower court erred when it there was no definitive ruling on the purported <u>Richardson</u> violation. In shorrt, there was no <u>Richardson</u> violation; and, assuming a "colorable" one existed, the failure to make formal findings concerning each of the pertinent <u>Richardson</u> considerations does not constitute reversible error. <u>Ansley v. State</u>, 302 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1 DCA 1974) and <u>Baker v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 905, 906, pet. for review den., 447 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984). As defense counsel had both actual and constructive knowledge of Tony Capers and Debra Tyer, there was no error. The prosecution can hardly be faulted for not having considered Tony Capers (an individual charged in this criminal act) as a potential witness until such time as he chose to be bound by plea negotiations. No harm or prejudice was suffered by Appellant; and, the court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Mr. Capers to testify.

C. Photopack viewed by Lester Stewart

Where Appellant fails to focus is that Lester Stewart testified the previous day; identified Larry Hadley's photograph; and, was cross-examined on this issue. (R 1732 - 1734)

Defense counsel admitted the "cover sheet" (R 265, 266) Answer to the Denial for Discovery had the word "photopack" on it. (R 2268) At Alan Moore's deposition of August 26, 1983, defense counsel learned that Lester Stewart had identified Hadley from a photopack as the man who and asked him about renting an apartment. (R

686)

There is no discovery violation. Defense counsel had actual knowledge of the photopack's existence. That defense counsel did not direct the police to produce the photopack, when he had actual knowledge of the photopack, can hardly be attributed to the State. The trial court cannot be said to have abused its discretion under Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971) The following transpired which is in support of the court's ruling:

THE COURT: Did you ever notify the State Attorney's office they didn't have the photopack there?

MR. MENSH: No sir.

THE COURT: Did you ever make any inquiry subsequently as to where the photopack was?

MR. MENSH: No, sir, the State Attorney was there. Mr. Young was present. In other words, the State Attorney insisted on my being present.

THE COURT: Did you point out to him obviously the photopack isn't here, can I see it, can you make it available?

MR. MENSH: I don't think so. I just said to let me see all of the evidence in the case.

THE COURT: Because there wasn't no photopack there, that was the end of the subject?

MR. MENSH: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I think it's incumbent upon the lawyer, regardless of which side of the fence he is on, to pursue a reasonable effort to obtain evidence which was disclosed during a portion of the discovery, which it was, here on the cover sheet. I don't think you have to sit there and look over everything and find something missing, to say you have no responsibilites then to pursue the missing item. Now, obviously the photopack is some place. It has to be available. What you do is not take a positive step to locate it. You step back and take a negative response because it wasn't there, you are not going to take any effort to locate it. I think an obligation is imposed upon you at the time when all of the evidence is displayed to point out the photopack is not there and to say that I want it there on such-and-such a date when I come back if at all possible, and to cooperate and work with the police. And I'm sure they have no reason not to make it available.

It's a little late in Court, in other words, to stand up and say you didn't take any more steps. Have you seen the photopack here in the Court-room?

MR. MENSH: I looked at it from the Clerk, yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right, the objection is to be overruled, then.

(R 2270, line 24 - R 2272, line 18)

There was no prejudice or harm visited upon Gardner; and, he fails to demonstrate same.

- D. Lab Results on Scrapings Taken from Polk's Hardware Store
 Kevin Noppinger was qualified on the basis of his education,
 training, and experience as an expert in the field of forensic serology. (R 1811) The witness identified the evidence which he analyzed. In reference to State's Exhibit No. 10, scraping materials
 were identified as:
 - (1) Bottom shelf on display counter
 - (2) Lower shelf of center display counter
 - (3) Shelf second from floor
 - (4) From floor by body
 - (5) From floor under body

(R 1822, 1823)

Defense counsel argued a discovery violation as he was never furnished with a copy of the report. (R 1823) The prosecutor replied that he, too, was never served with a copy of the report. (R 1824; 1839) Physical evidence from the medical examiner's office was

listed on the Discovery "cover sheet". (R 266) The record reflects that defense counsel was apprised of the fact on September 8, 1983, the five scrapings exited. (R 1829) The police property report showed that samples of the scrapings were mailed to defense counsel on September 10, 1983. (R 1830).

There was a conflict of past recollection as to whether defense counsel had been notified of the expert testimony as to the scrapings. (R 1833). The probative value of the expert's testimony was explored: His report "verified that all that blood and the victim was the victim's." (R 1834) Out of the jury's presence, the testimony was proffered. (R 1835 - 1837) The prosecution argued it was not in a position to deliver the report when it never received it. (R 1841) The court asked the defense counsel to designate prejudice (R 1842) and he responded that he had no idea what the expert's testimony would be. (R 1844) The court ruled:

THE COURT: All right, the Court feels that the State has satisfied this Court there has not been an intentional violation of discovery procedures.

Secondly, I do not feel there would be any prejudice by allowing this expert to merely identify these blood scrapings apparently as having been from the body of Mr. Holda.

(R 1846, lines 16 - 23)

Thereafter, defense counsel deposed the expert. (R 1850)

There was an adequate <u>Richardson</u> hearing. The court determined no prejudice. The record does reflect all the available information on the subject that could be developed. Appellant asserts error because the lower court never resolved the representational conflicts between counsel as to disclosure. The court found both counsel to have given truthful representations. (R 1847, 1848) Appellant also

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